Pablo Celhay Sebastian Martinez

Impact Evaluation of Colombia's ADN Dignidad program

Understanding the impact of a Humanitarian Cash Transfer (HCT) program in Colombia

May 2023

Impact Evaluation Report 137







For the program









A D N



NORWEGIAN REFUGEE COUNCIL

About 3ie

The International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) promotes evidence-informed, equitable, inclusive and sustainable development. We support the generation and effective use of high-quality evidence to inform decision-making and improve the lives of people living in poverty in low- and middle-income countries. We provide guidance and support to produce, synthesise and quality assure evidence of what works, for whom, how, why and at what cost.

3ie impact evaluations

Our impact evaluations assess the difference a development intervention has made to social and economic outcomes. 3ie is committed to supporting and producing rigorous evaluations that include a theory-based design, use the most appropriate mix of methods to capture outcomes and are useful in complex development contexts.

About this report

This report, *Impact Evaluation of the ADN Dignidad Program: Understanding the impact of a Humanitarian Cash Transfer (HCT) program in Colombia* was produced by the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) for Cash for Urban Assistance Consortium under Contract COB004155. This report has been copy-edited and formatted for publication by 3ie. The 3ie editorial production team for this report comprises Mallika Rao and Akarsh Gupta.

Research discussed in this publication is related to the ADN Dignidad program implemented by Action Against Hunger, Danish Refugee Council and Norwegian Refugee Council, and funded by USAID's Bureau for Humanitarian Assistance (BHA). The views expressed in this report are not necessarily those of BHA, the Consortium or its members, 3ie it's donors or its board of commissioners.

All of the content, errors and omissions are the sole responsibility of the authors. All affiliations of the authors listed in the title page are those that were in effect at the time the report was accepted. Please direct any comments or queries to the corresponding author, Sebastian Martinez, smartinez@3ieimpact.org.

Suggested citation: Celhay, P, Martinez, S, *Impact Evaluation of the ADN Dignidad Program: Understanding the impact of a Humanitarian Cash Transfer (HCT) program in Colombia*, 2023. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 137. New Delhi: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie). Available at: https://doi.org/10.23846/ADNIE137

Badges earned: Open Data 🐽 Open code ѹ Preregistered 🤣

The data and replication files are available through: https://doi.org/10.7910/DVN/D2RPQM

Cover photo: ADN Dignidad

© International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), 2023

Impact Evaluation of the ADN Dignidad Program: Understanding the impact of a Humanitarian Cash Transfer (HCT) program in Colombia

Pablo Celhay Pontifica Universidad Católica de Chile and 3ie Research Fellow

Sebastian Martinez International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie)

Impact Evaluation Report 137

May 2023



Acknowledgements

The study was led by co-principal investigators Pablo Celhay and Sebastian Martinez with contributions from Raimundo Eyzaguirre, Carolyn Huang, Mario Navarrete, and Jorge Zavala. Data collection was implemented by Isegoria. We thank all Cash for Urban Assistance Consortium staff who contributed to this evaluation, in particular Carlos Alviar, Anna Stamatiadi and Stefania Echeverry. The opinions expressed in this report are those of the authors.

Resumen Ejecutivo

La crisis humanitaria venezolana representa una de las crisis de desplazamiento más grandes del mundo, del orden de 6,1 millones de personas (UNHCR (2022a)). Colombia alberga actualmente a más de 1,82 millones de venezolanos, el 60% de los cuales se encuentran en situaciones irregulares que les impiden acceder a los servicios públicos, poniendo a prueba la capacidad del Gobierno de Colombia (GOC) para brindar asistencia social y legal esencial (UNHCR (2022a)). Los migrantes venezolanos y los retornados colombianos que llegan a Colombia son tienden a ser pobres y con pocas estrategias de supervivencia a su disposición para apoyar su integración. Este es particularmente el caso en los barrios pobres que albergan a migrantes mixtos, con una competencia cada vez mayor por los escasos recursos y oportunidades dentro de las comunidades receptoras.

Conocer como apoyar eficazmente a estas poblaciones desplazadas se ha vuelto imperativo. En este sentido, las transferencias monetarias están bien establecidas como una herramienta de desarrollo eficaz. Sin embargo, poco se sabe sobre su efectividad para ayudar a la población desplazada en el contexto de la crisis venezolana. Este estudio contribuye a llenar este vacío, respondiendo preguntas críticas sobre la efectividad de las transferencias monetarias no condicionadas para mejorar las vidas de las personas desplazadas y sus hogares.

Este informe presenta los resultados de la evaluación de impacto del Programa ADN Dignidad que implementa el Consorcio Cash for Urban Assistance (CUA), liderado por Acción Contra el Hambre en asociación con el Consejo Danés para Refugiados (DRC) y el Consejo Noruego para Refugiados (NRC), con financiación del Bureau for Humanitarian Assistance (BHA) de USAID. El programa tiene como objetivo mejorar el acceso a alimentos básicos, artículos no alimentarios y vivienda a través de la provisión de hasta seis meses de transferencias incondicionales de asistencia monetaria multipropósito (MPCA, por sus siglas en ingles) de aproximadamente \$100 USD por hogar receptor por mes (\$34 USD / por persona por mes, o \$206 USD por persona durante 6 meses) a aproximadamente 220,000 personas afectadas por la crisis. Para maximizar el impacto de MPCA, el proyecto integra mensajes dirigidos a maximizar el impacto nutricional de las transferencias. El programa también tiene como objetivo mejorar el entorno de protección general para los grupos focalizados aumentando su conocimiento de la protección social disponible local y legalmente accesible (educación, salud, protección, etc.) y los servicios legales.

Para estimar el impacto de ADN Dignidad, implementamos un Diseño de Regresión Discontinua (RDD). En este contexto, explotamos la regla de elegibilidad del programa que asigna puntajes a cada solicitante en función de las características del hogar en el momento de la solicitud. La vulnerabilidad de cada hogar se evalúa a través de una encuesta de características sociodemográficas y económicas, y se asignan dos puntajes a cada postulación. Se define un umbral y los hogares que están por encima de un umbral de vulnerabilidad en cualquiera de los puntajes son elegibles para recibir la asistencia. El RDD establece el impacto del programa al comparar los resultados de los solicitantes que están justo por encima y por debajo del umbral de elegibilidad de ambos puntajes. En este sentido, los impactos estimados en este informe aplican al grupo de solicitantes con puntajes de elegibilidad en el límite, es decir, solicitantes con los puntajes de vulnerabilidad más bajos entre los solicitantes elegibles. Analizamos los impactos de corto plazo utilizando datos de 3190 postulantes recolectados entre 1 a 3 meses después de la graduación del programa (7 a 9 meses después de la solicitud para los no participantes) en las áreas de Barranquilla, Bogotá y Nariño.

Los resultados muestran que la aceptación del programa ADN Dignidad es casi universal, y la mayoría de los participantes no podrían sustituir esta fuente de apoyo por MPCA de otros programas. Como resultado del programa, los participantes tienen mayores ahorros, menor probabilidad de reportar deudas y es más probable que inviertan en herramientas de trabajo. El programa resulta en un incremento de 3,7 horas semanales de trabajo, un 13,8% más que el control. Uno a tres meses después de concluir el programa, los participantes reportan un aumento sostenido en los ingresos de aproximadamente 15% por encima del grupo de comparación. Encontramos efectos grandes y significativos de la intervención en la reducción tanto de la severidad como de la prevalencia de las estrategias de mitigación de la inseguridad alimentaria, así como de las prácticas de consumo de alimentos que adoptan en caso de contingencias. Finalmente, ADN Dignidad aumenta el bienestar subjetivo de los participantes al reducir la inseguridad y mejorar la satisfacción con la vida.

En su totalidad, la evidencia apunta a impactos de ADN Dignidad que son económicamente importantes y estadísticamente significativos sobre la mejora de la calidad de vida de los migrantes venezolanos y los retornados colombianos. Suponiendo que los impactos se mantienen a lo largo del tiempo, una simple comparación de los beneficios económicos en relación con los costos del programa sugiere un retorno positivo de la inversión dentro de los tres años, contando solo los beneficios provenientes del aumento de las horas de trabajo. Estos resultados son particularmente notables dada la naturaleza de las estimaciones de impacto de RDD entre los "menos vulnerables" de una población altamente vulnerable a la que se dirige el programa. Si bien no podemos evaluar los impactos en los participantes con puntaies de vulnerabilidad más altos, los resultados encontrados en este estudio bien podrían ser estimaciones de límite inferior, es decir, que los impactos positivos se den, en diferente medida, también en población aún más vulnerable. Los resultados también sugieren que expandir los criterios de elegibilidad del programa a los aplicantes con puntajes de vulnerabilidad más bajos promete ser una estrategia efectiva para mejorar el bienestar de aquellos que actualmente no son elegibles para el programa.

Executive summary

The Venezuelan humanitarian crisis represents one of the largest displacement crises in the world, on the order of 6.1 million people (UNHCR 2022a). Colombia currently hosts more than 1.82 million Venezuelans, 60 percent of whom are in irregular situations that prevent them from accessing public services, putting a strain on the Government of Colombia's (GOC's) capacity to deliver essential social and legal assistance (UNHCR 2022a). Venezuelan migrants and Colombian returnees arriving in Colombia are generally poor and have few coping strategies at their disposal to support their integration. This is particularly the case in the poor neighborhoods that host mixed migrants, with increasingly greater competition for scarce resources and opportunities within receptor communities.

Understanding how to effectively support these displaced populations has become imperative. To this effect, cash transfers are well established as an effective development tool. However, little is known about their effectiveness in aiding the displaced population in the context of the Venezuelan crisis. This study contributes to filling this gap, answering critical questions about the effectiveness of unconditional cash transfers for improving the lives of displaced individuals and their households.

This report presents the results of the impact evaluation of ADN Dignidad. The ADN Dignidad Program is implemented by the Cash for Urban Assistance (CUA) Consortium, led by Acción Contra el Hambre in partnership with the Danish Refugee Council (DRC) and the Norwegian Refugee Council (NRC), with funding from USAID's Bureau for Humanitarian Assistance (BHA). The program aims to improve access to basic food, non-food items, and shelter through the provision of up to 6 months of unconditional multipurpose cash assistance (MPCA) transfers of approximately \$100 USD per recipient household per month (\$34 USD/person per month, or \$206 USD/person over 6 months) to approximately 220,000 crisis-affected individuals. To leverage the impact of the MPCA, the project integrates targeted messaging aimed at maximizing the nutritional impact of the MPCA transfers. The program also strives to improve the overall protective environment for target groups by increasing their awareness of locally available and legally accessible social protection (education, health, social protection, etc.) and legal services.

To estimate the impact of ADN Dignidad, we implement a Regression Discontinuity Design (RDD). In this setting, we exploit the eligibility rule of the program that assigns scores to each applicant based on household characteristics at the time of application. We assess the vulnerability of each household through a sociodemographic and economic characteristics survey, and assign two scores to each application. We define a threshold and households that are above a threshold of vulnerability on either score are eligible to receive the assistance. The RDD establishes the program's impact by comparing outcomes of applicants who are just above and below an eligibility threshold of both scores. As such, the impacts estimated in this report apply to the pool of applicants with boarder line eligibility scores—those with the lowest vulnerability scores among eligible applicants. We analyze short-term impacts using cross-sectional data on 3,190 applicants collected between 1 to 3 months after program graduation (7 to 9 months after application for non-participants) in the areas of Barranquilla, Bogota, and Nariño. Results show that uptake of the ADN Dignidad program is near universal, and most participants would be unable to substitute this source of support for MPCA from other programs. As a result of the program, participants have increased savings, are less likely to hold debt, and are more likely to invest in business tools. The program led to increases of 3.7 hours of work per week and 13.8 percent over the control group. One to three months after the program ended, participants report a sustained increase in income, roughly 15 percent higher than the comparison group. We find large and significant effects of the intervention on reducing both the severity and prevalence of food insecurity coping strategies and food consumption practices participants adopted in emergency situations. Finally, ADN Dignidad increased participants' subjective well-being by reducing insecurity and improving life satisfaction.

Taken together, the evidence points to economically large and statistically significant impacts of ADN Dignidad on improved quality of life for Venezuelan migrants and Colombian returnees. Assuming impacts are sustained over time, a simple comparison of the economic benefits relative to program costs suggests a positive return on investment within 3 years from increased working hours alone. These results are particularly notable when accounting for the nature of the RDD impact estimates among the "least vulnerable" of a highly vulnerable population the program targets. While we are unable to assess impacts on participants with higher vulnerability scores, the results found in this study are arguably lower-bound estimates—positive impacts are sustained to various degrees among more vulnerable populations. The results also suggest that expanding the program's eligibility criteria to applicants with lower vulnerability scores is a promising effective strategy for improving the well-being of those currently ineligible for the program.

Contents

Acknowledgements	
Resumen Ejecutivoi	i
Executive summaryiv	,
List of figures and tables vi	i
1. Introduction1	
2. Intervention	
3. Empirical Strategy	3
3.1 Potential outcomes framework	3
3.2 Basic RDD model4	ŀ
3.3 Cattaneo approach with two assignment variables4	ŀ
3.4 RDD design setup5	5
4. Data	3
4.1 Administrative data8	3
4.2 Survey instrument8	3
4.3 Sampling)
4.4 Field protocol and pilot)
4.5 Survey quality assurance10)
4.6 Survey results11	
4.7 Description of final database13	3
5. Results	;
5.1 Validity checks of the RDD15	5
5.2 Impact on intermediate outcomes17	,
5.3 Impact on primary outcomes21	J
5.4 Heterogeneous effects: Gender disaggregated analysis	;
6. Conclusion	,
Online Appendix)
References)

List of figures and tables

Figure 1: Theory of change	3
Figure 2: RD with 2 assignment variables	5
Figure 3: Graphical representation of the sample's distribution across both assignment	
variables	7
Figure 4: Discontinuity around the threshold (Normalized running variable)	7
Figure 5: Survey completion by treatment status	11
Figure 6: Survey completion by assignment score	12
Figure 7: Graphical representation of RD design: Response rate	12
Figure 8: Don't know answers by section	14
Figure 9: Manipulation test of normalized running variable	15
Figure 10: Graphical representation of RD design: Predetermined covariates	16
Figure 11: Graphical representation of RD design: Impact on intermediate outcomes -	
Income, expenses, savings and debt (1)	18
Figure 12: Graphical representation of RD design: Impact on intermediate outcomes -	
Income, expenses, savings, and debt (2)	19
Figure 13: Graphical representation of RD design: Impact on final outcomes - Survival	
strategies	22
Figure 14: Graphical representation of RD design: Impact on final outcomes - Survival	
strategies (2)	23
Figure 15: Graphical representation of RDD: Impact on final outcomes - Emotional well	i -
being, violence, and discrimination	25

Table 1: Attrition analysis	12
Table 2: Predetermined covariates: Descriptive table	14
Table 3: Intermediate outcomes: Income, expenses, savings, and debt	20
Table 4: Final outcomes: Survival strategies	24
Table 5: Final outcomes: Emotional well-being, violence, and discrimination	25

1. Introduction

In 2022, a historically high 101.1 million people were forcibly displaced due to humanitarian crises arising from persecution, conflict, violence, and human rights violations (UNHCR 2022b). The prevalence of displacement has been consistently increasing over the past decade along with rises in the number of conflicts recorded globally (David Malpass 2022).

Refugees and forcibly displaced persons experience multiple intersecting vulnerabilities arising from physical risks during transit across borders, loss of livelihoods, and labor exploitation, resulting in an increased risk of poverty and poorer human capital development outcomes (Klugman 2022; Corral et al. 2020). An estimated 74 percent of all refugees live in protracted situations, where displacement spans 5 or more years (UNHCR 2022a). For children—the largest demographic group among the forcibly displaced—deleterious effects may be longer lasting and/or intergenerational (UNHCR 2022a). Several studies find linkages between effects of conflict and low nutritional outcomes, sometimes beginning in utero (Minoiu and Shemyakina 2014; Akresh et al. 2017; Bundervoet et al. 2009; Bundervoet et al. 2005; Akresh et al. 2012; Ekhator-Mobayode and Abebe Asfaw 2019; Corral et al. 2020). The gendered dimensions of displacement and increased vulnerability are widely documented. Internally displaced women are at an increased risk of intimate partner violence, receive fewer employment opportunities than displaced men, and may fare worse economic outcomes as heads of households than other displaced households (Klugman 2022; Hanmer et al. 2020).

The Venezuelan humanitarian crisis represents one of the largest displacement crises in the world, on the order of 6.1 million people (UNHCR 2022a). Venezuela's economic, social, and political collapse, coupled with the COVID-19 pandemic, poses challenges for neighboring countries such as Colombia. The country currently hosts more than 1.82 million Venezuelans, 60 percent of whom are in irregular situations that prevent them from accessing public services. However, the outpouring of Venezuelans and Colombian returnees (henceforth referred to as mixed migrants) from Venezuela puts significant strain on the Government of Colombia's (GOC's) capacity to deliver essential social and legal assistance (UNHCR 2022a).

Mixed migrants arriving in Colombia over the last year are generally poor and have few coping strategies at their disposal to support their integration. The mass influx of mixed migrants in border regions of Colombia and other, largely poor urban and peri-urban zones across the country leads to increasing levels of xenophobia and social tension with resident Colombians. This is particularly the case in the poor neighborhoods that host mixed migrants, because there is an increasingly greater competition for scarce resources and opportunities within these communities.

The situation in Colombia and rising global trends create an urgent imperative for understanding how to effectively support the displaced population of mixed migrants in Colombia. Cash transfers, conditional and unconditional, are well established as an effective development tool that, when lump sums are sufficiently sized, can improve human capital outcomes among poor and vulnerable households (Asfaw and Davis 2018; Attanasio and Mesnard 2006; Attanasio et al. 2010; Baez and Camacho 2011;

Baird et al. 2014; Daidone et al. 2019; Fisher et al. 2017; Hoddinott and Skoufias 2004;

Kabeer and Waddington 2015; Lagarde et al. 2007; Schultz 2004). Findings from existing evidence are promising, but geographically sparse. Cash transfers have been found to increase access to basic necessities, such as housing (Hagen-Zanker et al. 2018; Aker 2017), and improve the economic well-being and inequality (Özler et al. 2021; Doocy and Tappis 2017; Aygün et al. 2021; Salti et al. 2022). For human capital outcomes, such as nutrition (food security, dietary diversity, and caloric consumption), there have been mostly positive results (Özler et al. 2021; Doocy and Tappis 2017; van Daalen et al. 2022; Ecker et al. 2019; Salti et al. 2022). Similar positive findings were observed for education outcomes (Moussa et al. 2022; Aygün et al. 2021; Salti et al. 2022) and child labor-related outcomes (Moussa et al. 2022; Aygün et al. 2021; Salti et al. 2022). However, fewer impact evaluations have examined their performance in fragile contexts and for displaced populations and to our knowledge, there is no evidence from quantitative impact evaluations in the particular context of Venezuelan migration crisis.

This impact evaluation contributes to filling this important knowledge gap and complements an emerging body of evidence by answering questions about the effectiveness of unconditional cash transfers in improving the lives of displaced individuals and their households. While previous studies on emergency cash examined Colombia's *Familias en Accion* impacts on pandemic relief (Londoño-Vélez and Querubin 2022; Gallego et al. 2021), to date, no studies have evaluated ADN Dignidad's impacts on Colombian and Venezuelan migrants.

2. Intervention

The ADN Dignidad Program is implemented by the Cash for Urban Assistance (CUA) Consortium, led by Acción Contra el Hambre in partnership with the Danish Refugee Council (DRC) and the Norwegian Refugee Council (NRC), with funding from USAID's Bureau for Humanitarian Assistance (BHA). The program aims to improve access to basic food, non-food items, and shelter through the provision of up to 6 months of unconditional multipurpose cash assistance (MPCA) transfers. Transfers of approximately \$100 USD per participating household are paid monthly. This amounts to \$34 USD/per person per month (\$206 USD/6 months) to approximately 220,000 crisis-affected individuals since the program's inception. To leverage the impact of the MPCA, the project integrates targeted messaging aimed at maximizing the nutritional impact of the MPCA transfers. The program also aims to improve the overall protective environment for target groups by increasing their awareness of locally available and legally accessible social protection (education, health, protection, etc.) and legal services.

Theory of Change. – The intervention theory of change poses that if highly vulnerable populations are provided with unconditional MPCA transfers, then this will increase their capacity to purchase food and non-food items and eventually, meet their daily survival needs. The theory of change considers that if cash is combined with the provision of information and referrals to available and legally accessible social protection and other essential services, then the affected communities will have more information and if they consider the referrals and the information relevant, then the access to essential services will be increased. If beneficiaries access essential services, then this will decrease their overall vulnerability to violence, exploitation, and the need to apply irreversible negative coping strategies. If the provision of cash is also combined with targeted messages about how to maximize the nutritional outcomes of the cash transfers, then households will have

increased knowledge and information on the benefits. If households have an increased understanding of nutrition benefits, then the probability of them using the cash to purchase food accordingly and achieve a more diverse diet will be higher. In the case of a water, sanitation, and hygiene- (WASH-) related emergency, beneficiaries will be provided with hygiene kits and messages so they can be protected and have their emergency-related needs covered. Ultimately, the desired impact of the project is to save lives, alleviate suffering, and reduce the social and economic impact of the Venezuelan crisis on Venezuelan migrants, Colombian returnees, internally displaced persons (IDPs), and mixed migrant host communities in Colombia.



Figure 1: Theory of change

3. Empirical Strategy

The analysis presented in this report aims to identify the causal effects of the ADN Dignidad program on outcomes of interest. We briefly describe the conceptual framework of the potential outcomes model, which underpins this approach to impact evaluation. We then describe the empirical estimation strategy, using the Regression Discontinuity Design (RDD), which allows us to identify the causal impacts of ADN Dignidad for a particular segment of the participant population.

3.1 Potential outcomes framework

The potential outcomes framework provides a way to measure causal effects. This framework states that each unit or person has two potential outcomes $Y_i(1)$ and $Y_i(0)$. That is, before the intervention starts, one could think that each individual has two possible outcomes depending on whether they receive the intervention ($Y_i(1)$) or not ($Y_i(0)$). Of course, once the intervention occurs, we will only be able to observe one of these two outcomes, but for now, any of the two is possible. For instance, an outcome of interest may

be per capita expenditure of a household *i*. If that particular household takes up an intervention such as an MPCA, then we would observe $Y_i(1)$. In the opposite case, if that household does not take up the program, we would observe $Y_i(0)$.

The causal effect of the program on that particular household is defined as the difference between the household's per capita expenditure when that household participates in the program ($Y_i(1)$) and that same household's per capita expenditure had it not received the intervention ($Y_i(0)$). So, we define a simple conceptual estimate of the causal effect of the program as:

 $\tau_i = Y_i(1) - Y_i(0)$ (1)

The challenge with estimating τ_i is that both scenarios cannot be observed simultaneously. We only observe one of the outcomes: household *i* receives the treatment $Y_i(1)$ or if *i* does not receive the treatment, $Y_i(0)$ will be observed. We cannot observe both states of nature at the same time for the same unit of observation.

To address this problem, the counterfactual scenario has to be constructed using a control or comparison group. This group has to be the same as the treated group in all ways, except for the fact that they did not receive the treatment. Thus, to estimate a causal effect, impact evaluations attempt to create two groups that are identical in all dimensions except for the fact that one receives the treatment. To achieve this, the treatment has to be assigned randomly (experimental method) or in a way that is as good as random (quasi-experimental methods), such as RDD.

3.2 Basic RDD model

In the RDD, a discontinuous assignment criteria are exploited to estimate a credible counterfactual. In an RDD, "all units have a score, and a treatment is assigned to those units whose value of the score exceeds a known cutoff or threshold, and not assigned to units whose value of the score is below the cutoff" (Cattaneo et al. 2020. RDD takes advantage of the fact that the probability of receiving the treatment changes discontinuously at the threshold, while other covariates, including the score, should change continually at the threshold. In the case where the observational units are not able to precisely control their position around the threshold, the assignment to the treatment will be "as good as random" around the threshold. Because there is a discontinuous assignment of the treatment, this can be used to study the causal effect of the treatment on some outcome around the threshold, using the units "with scores barely below the cutoff (...) as counterfactuals for units with scores barely above it" (Cattaneo et al. 2020).

3.3 Cattaneo approach with two assignment variables

In this study, we follow the RDD approach proposed by Cattaneo (Cattaneo et al. 2018) to estimate the causal effects of ADN Dignidad. More specifically, we have a treatment that is assigned based on two different running variables with two distinct thresholds. "This type of assignment defines a continuum of treatment effects over the boundary of the treatment region, denoted by β " (Cattaneo et al. 2020). In this case, each point b of the boundary β has an effect *r*. But as Cattaneo points out (Cattaneo et al. 2020), estimating effects on all the boundaries may not be viable. In this scenario, two options are proposed: (1) measuring

the effect at certain points of interest on the boundary β and (2) defining a pooled RD estimate, which defines a measure of distance to the cutoff. Given that our interest is to estimate a weighted-average effect, we opted for the second option and use a normalizing-and-pooling approach discussed in Cattaneo et al. (2018).

3.4 RDD design setup

Our main identification strategy is an RDD. To obtain a causal estimate of the effect of the cash assistance, we exploit the eligibility rule of the program that assigns scores to each individual based on the characteristics of the families at the time of application. Once we assess each family's vulnerability through a sociodemographic and economic characteristics survey, we assign two scores to each applicant's family. We define a threshold and families that are above a threshold of vulnerability are eligible to receive the assistance. This design compares outcomes of individuals who are just above and below an eligibility threshold of both scores. Families do not know how the scores are computed, so they are not able to manipulate variables to change them. Based on budget constraints, the program gives cash assistance to every family with a vulnerability score of 90 or above for the scorecard model (SM), and with estimated score below 53,168 calculated using a Proxy Means Test (PMT). In *Figure 2*, we plot the treatment assignment for all applicants along both assignment variables.



Figure 2: RD with 2 assignment variables

The distribution of the scores across the full support of both assignment variables is shown in section 7. One potential problem of RDD design is that applicants may be able to alter the scores used to assign the program in their favor to become eligible for the benefits. The figures show that at the threshold of 90 points of the SM score and 53,168 in household expenses from the PMT, there are no evident changes in the density of the scores. A formal test of this condition was also conducted, where we plot the density of individuals within bandwidths of the scores, together with confidence intervals. The figures show no significant changes in the number of individuals in close vicinity at the left or right of the 90-points

threshold or at the 53,168 threshold level for the SM score and the PMT, respectively. Taken together, these figures show evidence against the applicants' manipulation of the scores. If there were manipulation, the strategy would fail to identify a causal effect because the internal validity of an RD design is sustained by the assumption that individuals who are just above and below the thresholds of the variables that determine their eligibility in the program are comparable in all dimensions, with the only difference being that those at the right of the threshold receive the benefit.

Our main specification is estimated using the following linear regression:

(1)
$$y_i = \alpha + f(Z_i) + \tau * 1(Z_i \ge 0) + X_i + \epsilon_i$$

where y_i represents an outcome (such as food insecurity post assistance) for household *i*. X_i is a vector of control variables specific to the household, such as the sex and age of the household head. $f(\cdot)$ is a smooth function of the vector of running variables (i.e., the scores in this case). $1(Z_i \ge 0)$ is an indicator function that takes the value 1 when the running variables are equal to or higher than their relevant threshold—when the household becomes eligible for the program; ϵ_i is the error term of the regression. The coefficient of interest is τ , which can be interpreted as the average local effect of a household's eligibility for the program.

To combine the SM and PMT eligibility criteria, we used a normalizing-and-pooling approach to create a new variable x_{norm} . To achieve this, we normalized both running variables creating a vector of two values { SM_{norm} , PMT_{norm} } for each person in the sample. For treated individuals who were over the threshold in the SM, we assigned the normalized SM value as their x_{norm} value. In the case of treated individuals who were over the PMT threshold, we assigned the normalized PMT score as their x_{norm} value. In the case of controls, we chose the $Min{SM_{norm}, PMT_{norm}}$ as the x_{norm} value. A visual representation of this assignment can be seen in *Figure 3*.

As mentioned before, one potential risk to identification with an RDD is that applicants may be able to alter the scores used to assign the program in their favor to become eligible for the benefits. This must also be tested on our new pooled variable x_{norm} . The figures show that at the threshold of x_{norm} score, there are no evident changes in the density of the scores. A formal test of this condition is also done for our pooled variable, where we plot the density of individuals within bandwidths of the scores, together with confidence intervals. Again, we find no significant changes in the number of individuals on either side of our pooled threshold.



Figure 3: Graphical representation of the sample's distribution across both assignment variables

Finally, we want to check that the probability of receiving the treatment changes discontinuously at the threshold for our new pooled variable. *Figure 4* shows that there is a discontinuous probability of receiving the treatment at the threshold. In fact, treatment compliance is such that we have what is known as a "sharp RDD design," where the probability of receiving treatment changes discretely from 0 to 1 at the threshold.



Figure 4: Discontinuity around the threshold (Normalized running variable)

4. Data

4.1 Administrative data

For baseline data, we used administrative records ADN Dignidad collected during the application process. These data were collected to construct vulnerability scores for each applicant household and included a set of variables related to measures of income, expenditures, household demographics, household composition, economic and employment information, as well as other indicators related to the outcomes measurements in the analysis.

4.2 Survey instrument

To analyze the effects of the program, we designed a purpose-specific survey and tracked a sample of applicant households approximately 1 to 3 months after participants had graduated from the program. In the case of (ineligible) non-participants, the survey was conducted between 7 to 9 months after application. In all cases, we tracked "cohorts" of eligible and ineligible applicants, so that the timing of the endline survey is balanced between the two groups.

The survey was divided into 13 different sections, with a duration of approximately 40 minutes. The first section, "Household members and demography," included a list of all household members and a series of demographic characteristics for each interviewee, such as age, sex, nationality, and marital status. The second section focused on the education level of the applicant and all underage members of the household and whether the underage members of the household were currently attending formal education. The third section was related to health services and included questions about whether household members used health services and the reasons they did so.

The fourth section focused on employment and was subdivided into three different subsections. The first asked about employment situation, income, and working hours for all household members older than 7 years old. The second subsection asked about investment in small businesses. The third one constructed an employment history of the applicant for the last 12 months.

The fifth section covered applicant's migratory situation. The sixth section, on food insecurity, asked about a series of coping strategies households used to manage food insecurity. The seventh section, on housing, asked about construction materials, size, access to services, property, and value of the home. The eighth section focused on savings and collected information on informal and formal savings, as well as savings vehicles. The ninth section covered credit and asked whether applicants had taken out a loan in the last 6 months and what was the source of that loan.

Section 10 covered income and expenses, collecting information on household income sources other than work, income stability, and a breakdown of the household expenses. Section 11, on survival strategies, asked about a series of survival strategies households may use to deal with food scarcity.

Section 12 focused on insecurity and discrimination and inquired about whether household members faced violence and/or discrimination and what type of violence and/or discrimination

they faced. Finally, section 13 centered on emotional well-being, and asked about the applicant's subjective life satisfaction and life satisfaction compared to their peers.

4.3 Sampling

We restricted the analysis sample to individuals surveyed for their eligibility assessment between November 2021 and April 2022 in Barranquilla, Bogota, and Nariño. We prioritized these geographies due to the use of both eligibility scores in these areas. We selected the evaluation cohorts of applicants between November 2021 and April 2022 with the objective of analyzing short-term program impacts, defined as 1 to 3 months post intervention. The program delivered the first cash transfer within the first month of defining the eligibility status of each individual. Because the program lasts approximately 6 months since the first cash transfer and the surveying took place between July and October 2022, we can evaluate effects of the program between 1 and 3 months after graduation.

The results from our statistical power analysis showed that the optimal bandwidths were approximately [-12; 7] points around the eligibility threshold for the SM and [-3785; 3300] points around the threshold of the PMT score. The baseline application data contained 2,318 non-eligible applicants and 10,084 eligible applicants in this vicinity. We proposed a sample size that would be able to detect at least a 0.3 SD difference in household consumption index, household per capita expenses, and household per capita income (power = 80% and significance = 5%). We assumed differential phone survey recontact rates of 60 and 40 percent in the treatment and control groups, respectively, and 70 percent recontact rates in the face-to-face survey. Under these assumptions, we expected a final target analytic sample between approximately 1,300 and 1,600 households per intervention group, or 2,600 to 3,200 households in total. We proposed random sampling of applicants from both groups within the optimal bandwidth. We performed the computations using the command rdsampsi in Stata®, provided by Cattaneo et al. (2019). As noted below, this is a feasible sample size given the projected contact rates in the field.

To account for attrition, our original empirical sample consisted of 4,450 applicants, including 2,026 eligible applicants and 2,424 non-eligible ones. A total of 133 applicants had to be removed from this sample for reasons that are further explained below. This left a final sample of 4,317 applicants, with 1,989 eligible applicants and 2,328 ineligible applicants.

4.4 Field protocol and pilot

We initially contacted all households for a telephone survey and followed up with a representative sample of households not reached by telephone for a face-to-face survey.

An initial enumerator training for piloting took place on June 28. Actual piloting occurred between June 29 and the 30, and we received feedback from enumerators on June 30 and July 1. The pilot consisted of a sub-sample of 130 applicants contacted via telephone, with a response rate of 53.85 percent or 70 applicants. We made changes to the instrument and conducted definitive training for enumerators between July 5 and 8. An economic incentive in the form of a \$4 USD phone credit was given to the respondents who completed a full survey. This incentive was designed as a non- coercive recognition of respondent's time for participating in the survey. Respondents were informed of this incentive before the interview took place as part of the consent agreement.

The survey field protocol had three distinct parts:

- 1. Telephone surveys
 - Households in the evaluation sample were contacted by telephone and, if the contact was successful, interviewed through a telephone survey. A telephone survey was considered complete if the household (1) was contacted, consented to participate, and completed the survey; (2) refused to participate; or (3) was not found after 20 attempted contacts. Contact attempts took into account varied day times, as well as work and weekend days. If the applicant had more than one phone number listed, attempts were made to contact both numbers. Also, surveyed applicants had the option to schedule an appointment to complete the survey at the time most convenient to them. The average duration of the survey was approximately 42 minutes per household. Data collection was implemented on a "rolling" basis, contacting cohorts of households within 1 to 3 months of finalizing the program (or for ineligible households, 7 to 9 months after applying).
- 2. Recontact attempts through telephone In an attempt to reduce more costly in-person surveys, recontacting rounds were done through the phone to households that were not reached in the first attempt. Applicant numbers that had incomplete surveys or were not contacted in the first attempt were transferred to a different enumerator than in the previous round. With the new numbers assigned, the same protocol as in the previous round of contact attempts was executed.
- 3. Face-to-face tracking survey for households not reached by telephone on either round The purpose of the face-to-face interviews was to increase response rates and correct for any differential response to the telephone surveys that occurred between eligible and ineligible households. The tracking sample was traced to their last known place of residence and, if found, an experienced enumerator interviewed them in person following strict COVID-19 survey protocols (masking, maintaining social distance, conducting the interview in an open-air space whenever feasible, etc.). We made reasonable efforts \ to track households to new locations or reach the household by telephone when we obtained updated contact information. A face-to-face tracking survey was considered complete when the household (1) was contacted, consented to participate, and completed the survey; (2) refused participation; or (3) there was no way to track down the household.

4.5 Survey quality assurance

Data collection was undertaken by Isegoria, an independent research and data collection firm. In addition, the evaluation team included a survey methods and data quality assurance expert to oversee and secure quality throughout the whole survey process. The quality assurance measures included:

- Comprehensive audio audits. The full interviews were recorded. At the start of the process, all enumerators were audited to ensure quality. After that, random and focused audits were carried out throughout the entire survey. Auditors were looking for a series of common issues, including making sure the enumerators were not inducing answers, were recording answers correctly, and were doing proper inquiries to get complete answers without inducing responses.
- 2. A dashboard was created on Power BI to get real-time statistics of the survey process. These included looking at the survey times for different enumerators, the rate of

successful interviews, the average household size, the number of unanswered questions, and any other indicators that could signal deviations from survey protocols by any of the enumerators. We used these indicators and dashboards to closely follow the survey process and immediately address concerns.

3. Finally, regular meetings were scheduled between the quality assurance team and the survey firm's supervising team. In these meetings, the dashboard and indicators were closely examined for any anomaly or indication of lapses during the survey application. Also, feedback on the audio audits was given directly to supervisors to correct any potential errors.

4.6 Survey results

4.6.1 Response rate

The first completed survey took place on July 15 and the final on October 23, 2022. Of the final sample of 4,317 applicants, a total of 3,190 surveys were successfully completed, equivalent to a 73.89 percent response rate. While response rates deviated slightly between eligible and ineligible applicants, the differential was smaller than initially expected. The final analytic sample is composed of 1,532 completed surveys out of 1,989 (77.02% response rate) for eligible households and 1,658 completed surveys out of 2,328 (71.22% response rate) for ineligible households.

Figure 5: Survey completion by treatment status

- (a) Completed survey by group
- (b) Percentage of completed surveys by group



4.6.2 Attrition analysis

Figure 6 analyzes response rates by PMT and PMS scores. A visual analysis suggests a modest positive relationship between the eligibility scores and attrition rates.

Figure 6: Survey completion by assignment score

(b) Percentage of completed surveys by Score Card MOdel





To test whether this relationship is systematic and whether a discontinuity exists at the threshold, we run an RDD estimate of response rates on our different running variables.

Running Variable	Pooled	Linear PMS	РМТ	Pooled	Quadratic PMS	PMT
Effect	0.060**	0.059**	0.054	0.050	0.053	0.038
SE	(0.023)	(0.027)	(0.034)	(0.032)	(0.037)	(0.046)
Ν	4,279	3,810	2,693	4,279	3,810	2,693
Bandwidth	[4.224–1.724]	[84–35]	[119,938–36,896]	[4.224–1.724]	[84–35]	[119,938–36,896]

Table 1: Attrition analysis

Results show a significant discontinuity in our pooled running variable and the PMS score at a 5-percent level, but only in the linear specification of these variables. The estimated coefficient for PMT and the quadratic specification for all running variables is of a similar magnitude, but no longer statistically significant.

Figure 7: Graphical representation of RD design: Response rate

- (a) Response rate against PM Score
- (b) Response rate against PMT Score



(c) Response rate against Pooled Score



In the next section, we further explore the potential implications of differential response rates of eligible and ineligible applicants at the eligibility threshold. We analyze whether a discontinuity exists in our control variables, using our effective sample. If no discontinuity exists in these covariates, there is enough evidence to determine that the attrition did not affect the assumptions of our RD design.

4.6.3 Empirical sample

To arrive at our final analytical sample, the following additional observations were removed from the data:

- 1. Applicants included in the pilot survey. There were 105 applicants who had been part of the pilot and were reinterviewed in the survey. Once enumerators realized this, the 105 applicants were removed from the sample.
- 2. Two applications identified from the same applicant or household. The ADN Dignidad program allows people to apply as many times as they want so long as they are not selected for the program. Because of this, we identified repeated surveys from the same household and in some cases, from the same applicant. There were 28 surveys that had to be removed for this reason. In the cases where all applicants in the household were ineligible, the first application was kept. In cases where eligible and ineligible applicants were found in the same household, the eligible application was kept in the sample.

4.7 Description of final database

We created the final dataset used in the impact evaluation by merging the administrative baseline information and the survey data. Using the administrative data, we are able to identify each household that applied to the program, as well as their treatment status, eligibility scores, and every variable used to construct the vulnerability measured that created those scores. This dataset also contains non-identifiable information regarding the location of each household, which allowed us to focus the analysis on the geographic regions where the ADN Dignidad program applied the two-assignment criteria strategy, namely Barranquilla, Bogota, and Nariño.

We merged administrative data with the survey data using an individual code (formid) to match observations in both datasets. This panel dataset allowed us to take advantage of information the ADN Dignidad program gathered during the screening and selection process of participants as baseline measurements for the analysis.

Regarding the quality of the data, in addition to the previously discussed survey nonresponse, it is important to know the incidence of "Don't know/Won't answer" in the survey to detect possible biases when conducting the analysis. The survey data show that 10.5 percent of the sample answered at least one question as "Don't know." These were concentrated in the demographic section of the survey (9.29% of survey respondents answered "Don't know" in at least one question of this section). Among the surveyed households within this group, the average number of questions answered with "Don't know" is 2.66. The variables with most missing values are the age of the participant, information that we can extract from the administrative data.

Table 2 shows key descriptive statistics of applicants in our final data set. For instance, on average, 72 percent of applicants are female and the average age is 36 years. Majority, 81 percent, are applicants from Venezuela and the remainder are Colombian returnees. The average household has 4.1 members and average household expenses per capita are 124,938 pesos (roughly \$28USD) per month.

Demography 2.44 9.28 Demography Education 0 Education Health 125 Health 0179 Employment Employment .179 Migration 0 Migration 0 Food Consumption 0 Food Consumption 0 Housing 0 Housing 0 Savings Savings 0 Credit Credit 0 Income and Expenses .188 Income and Expenses .0239 Survival 0 Insecurity and Discrimination 0 Survival 0 Emotional Wellbeing Emotional Wellbeing All 10.5 All 2 66 2.5 0 2 10 0 .5 1 1.5 2 Percentage of respondents 6 Percentage of respondents

Figure 8: Don't know answers by section

(a) Percentage of people who answered "Don't know" by section

Table 2: Predetermined covariates: Descriptive table

	Mean	SD	Median	Min	Max	Ν
Woman (=1)	.72	.45	1	0	1	3190
Age in years	36	12	34	18	86	3190
Applicant is household head	.97	.16	1	0	1	3190
Nationality: Venezuelan (=1)	.81	.39	1	0	1	3190
Number of household members	4.1	2.5	4	1	40	3190
Months since arriving to Colombia	40	18	39	1	264	2748
Proportion of women in household	.53	.25	.5	0	1	3189
Food survival strategies index	53	15	52	0	112	3190
Household expenses per capita	124,938	108,836	93,396	0	293,0000	3083
Household income per capita	54,484	42,577	45,000	0	600,000	3190
Average education level in household	3.4	.88	3.5	1	7	3187

(b) Average number of "Don't know" answers among those who answered"Don't know" by section

5. Results

5.1 Validity checks of the RDD

We conducted formal tests of validity to assess the assumptions of the RDD methodology. First, a manipulation test was done for both the standardized assignment variable (distance to the nearest assignment frontier) and the vulnerability indices. For these tests, we corroborated that the variables used to assign the treatment status for each participant were continuous at both sides of the assignment threshold, implying that there is no evidence of manipulation of the self-selection scores in the program.



Figure 9: Manipulation test of normalized running variable

A second validity test addressed the presence of preexisting differences between the treatment and control groups at both sides of the treatment assignment threshold (continuity of predetermined covariates). The list of covariates that were subject to this analysis is presented below. At a standard statistical confidence level, there was no significant difference between both comparison groups using the preferred econometric model. This is further supported by alternate specifications of the analysis.

The final validity check focused on detecting possible preexisting imbalances between the treatment and control groups around the eligibility threshold, using variables related to the outcomes to be used in the analysis (continuity of outcome variables at baseline). To perform this validity analysis, we employed the administrative baseline data and replicated the RDD models using the information gathered during the enrollment process of the households in the program. We prioritized variables that mirrored similar outcomes collected in the evaluation survey. Results show that both treatment and control groups share, on average, almost identical observable characteristics and outcomes at baseline. This supports the hypothesis that the comparison of their outcomes after the implementation of the program would yield to estimations that can be attributed to the program, thus validating the chosen evaluation design.

Figure 10: Graphical representation of RD design: Predetermined covariates

(a) Average age in household



(b) Participation of women in the sample



(c) Average months since arriving to Colombia (d) Average per capita household expenses



(e) Average per capita household income



(g) Participation of household heads in the sample





(f) Average number of members in the household



(h) Participation of Venezuelan immigrants in the sample



Notes: The graphs show unconditional means in bins that calculate the average value of the outcome variable in intervals with the same number of observations each. The solid blue line represents the predicted lines from local polynomials estimated using raw data on each side of the discontinuity. The outer gray dashed lines mark 95 percent confidence intervals.

16

5.2 Impact on intermediate outcomes

Results of the ADN Dignidad impact analysis are presented following the program's theory of change outlined in Section 3 *above*. We first analyze indicators classified as intermediate outcomes. These include variables related to the program's impact on access to MPCA and its effect on income, expenses, savings, and debt, and access to financial services, employment, and productive investments. A full set of results including additional specifications on each outcome variable are shown in appendix section 10.3.

Among ineligible households, 19.2 percent report participating in a cash assistance program in the past 12 months, while eligibility for ADN Dignidad results in an 80.5 percent increase in participation in any MPCA program. Thus, the first notable finding is that adherence to the program is close to 100 percent, meaning that participation is near universal among eligible households. Furthermore, in the absence of ADN Dignidad, only 19.2 percent of participant households would have received alternate support. Additionally, while the comparison group reports receiving around 1 transfer in the past year, this number increases by 4.17 among eligible households. This result suggests that vulnerable Venezuelan migrants and Colombian returnees cannot readily substitute for the benefits ADN Dignidad provides and in the program's absence, the large majority of eligible households would have gone without this type of support.

Next, we look at the program's impact on income reported 1 to 3 months after graduation. The ADN Dignidad program generated lasting effects on household income even after MPCA payments ended. Per capita income increased by 46,594 pesos (+10.5 percent) and household income by 144,501 pesos (11 percent) when compared to the control group. This result is consistent with a large increase in the probability of having a self-reported stable source of income, which increases by 10.5 percentage points in participant households compared to the control group. Households also reduced their dependence on remittances and increased the amount remitted by 16,313 pesos. Taken together, these results suggest that the ADN Dignidad program bolstered the income security of participant households.

Through MPCA and key nutrition messages, the program aimed to improve access to sufficient quality food, boost food security, and increase access to other basic goods and services. Results show that the program led to significant increases in monthly household expenses—on average, 87,457 pesos.

Figure 11: Graphical representation of RD design: Impact on intermediate outcomes – Income, expenses, savings and debt (1)

(a) Received remittances in last 12 months (b) Per capita household income



(c) Household income stability





(d) Per capita household expenses



(e) Amount spent during last month: Transport



(g) Number of CT* programs enrolled in last year







(h) Number of CT received in last year



Notes: The graphs show unconditional means in bins that calculate the average value of the outcome variable in intervals with the same number of observations each. The solid blue line represents the predicted lines from local polynomials estimated using raw data on each side of the discontinuity. The outer gray dashed lines mark 95 percent confidence intervals.

*CT stands for cash transfer

Figure 12: Graphical representation of RD design: Impact on intermediate outcomes – Income, expenses, savings, and debt (2)



(b) Has an informal savings product



(c) Has a formal savings product









(e) Has invested in own business during last year (f) Invested in tools for the business



(g) Hours worked last week in current job



(h) Months employed during last year



Notes: The graphs show unconditional means in bins that calculate the average value of the outcome variable in intervals with the same number of observations each. The solid blue line represents the predicted lines from local polynomials estimated using raw data on each side of the discontinuity. The outer gray dashed lines mark 95 percent confidence intervals.

Variables	Received remittances	Per capita	HH Income	Per capita	
	in last 12 months (=1)	HH income [†]	stability [†]	HH expenses	
Control Mean	.129	312184	.173	314218	
Effect	0319	46594**	.105***	30721	
SE	(.0213)	(20905)	(.028)	(19198)	
Ν	2699	2699	2699	2699	
Bandwidth	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	
Variables	Amount spent during	Amount spent	Number of enrolled	Number of CTs	
	last month:	during	CT programs in	received in	
	Transport [†]	last month:	last 12 months	last 12 months	
		Remittances [†]			
Control Mean	63417	37408	.192	.931	
Effect	-7131	16313**	.805***	4.17***	
SE	(6566)	(8129)	(.026)	(.818)	
Ν	2699	2699	2699	2699	
Bandwidth	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	
Variables	Has	Has an informal	Has a formal	Has debt (=1)	
	savings (=1)	savings product	savings product (=1)		
		(=1)			
Control Mean	.188	.178	.0133	.278	
Effect	.0538**	.0504*	.00608	0493*	
SE	(.0274)	(.0272)	(.00573)	(.029)	
Ν	2699	2699	2699	2699	
Bandwidth	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	
Variables	Has invested in	Investment	Average working week	Average number of	
	business during last i	n business: Tools	ols hour months		
	year (=1)	(=1)	in employments in current	employed during the	
			job during the last week	last 12 months	
Control Mean	.475	.103	26.8	7.53	
Effect	.00287	.0669*	3.69** .149		
SE	(.0508)	(.0344)	(1.68) (.238)		
Ν	1191	1191	2689	2689	
Bandwidth	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	[-4.21 - 1.75]	
* **	···				

Table 3: Intermediate outcomes: Income, expenses, savings, and debt

* p <0.10, ** p <0.05, *** p <0.01

Notes: The specification used for the models in this table includes a linear relationship between the dependent and independent variables, covariates, and the standardized distance to the nearest assignment frontier as a running variable to capture the pooled effect. Control covariates (at baseline) included: sex, age in years, whether the head of the household is the one who applied, nationality, how much time they have been in Colombia, the proportion of women in the household, Food Consumption Index, household expenses per capita, household income per capita, and average education level in the household. The RD robust command was used to make the estimations.

†: These models include the baseline value of the outcome variable as an additional control variable

Next, we analyze the program's impact on access to financial services, including beneficiaries' savings, saving goals, and use of formal and informal saving methods and products, and whether they have formal or informal debt. The program significantly increases the probability of a beneficiary saving—by 5.38 percentage points on average, and lowers the probability of having debt by on average, -4.93 percentage points compared to the control group. Increased savings are primarily in the form of informal savings products, which increase by 5.04 percentage points, while we observe no effect on formal

savings products (only just over 1% of eligible and ineligible applicants report formal savings). We do not observe effects on the adoption of other saving goals (i.e., sending remittances, retirement, and health expenses, among others).

Finally, we analyze the ADN Dignidad's effects on employment and income. While there are no effects on business investments on the extensive margin (47.5% of eligible and ineligible applicants report some business investments), we see that the program led to significant investments on the intensive margin, with eligible applicants being 6.7 percentage points more likely to invest in tools for their businesses. Likewise, while the number of months employed is similar in the treatment and comparison groups (7.5 months), ADN Dignidad leads to an increase in number of hours worked, with eligible applicants reporting 3.69 additional hours of employment during the past week, equivalent to a 13.7 percent increase relative to the control group.

5.3 Impact on primary outcomes

This section presents results on the core set of primary outcomes outlined in the program's theory of change. These indicators include variables related to the use of survival strategies, the reliance on harmful coping mechanisms to meet daily needs, emotional well-being and security, and participants' living conditions.

Survival practices refer to the actions taken to generate income in case households lack resources for food, as well as food consumption, meaning any strategies the participant adopted to survive when confronted with a situation of lack of resources for food.

The impact analysis shows that ADN Dignidad significantly reduces the severity and prevalence of food insecurity coping strategies participant households used, as well as food consumption practices they adopted in situations of emergency. The program directly affected harmful coping mechanisms the families use to prioritize food consumption when monetary resources lack. Compared to similar households in the control group, participants of ADN Dignidad reduced their dependence on (1) cheaper or less preferred meals by 0.439 days a week, (2) meals donated by family and/or friends by 0.476 days, (3) reducing meal sizes by 0.852 days, (4) reducing the number of meals taken by adults in favor of feeding the children by 1.17 days, and (5) reducing the overall number of meals a day taken by all the family members by 0.721 days. These results are summarized in the reduced Coping Strategies Index (rCSI) that follows standards defined by the World Food Programme (2019), an indicator for which the program generated a causal impact of reducing the total number of days for any of the survival strategies by 0.366 standard deviations.

Figure 13: Graphical representation of RD design: Impact on final outcomes – Survival strategies

(a) Depend on borrowing from family



(c) Depend on reducing expenses in health, education, or clothing



(e) Depend on selling own belongings



(g) Depend on working for food



(b) Depend on personal savings



(d) Depend on child labor



(f) Depend on selling household assets



(h) Depend on migrating



Notes: The graphs show unconditional means in bins that calculate the average value of the outcome variable in intervals with the same number of observations each. The solid blue line represents the predicted lines from local polynomials estimated using rawdata on each side of the discontinuity. The outer gray dashed lines mark 95 percent confidence intervals.

Figure 14: Graphical representation of RD design: Impact on final outcomes – Survival strategies (2)

(a) Depend on accepting risky jobs or forced jobs



(c) Depend on donated meals



(e) Depend on reducing number adults



(g) rCSI (standardized)



(b) Depend on cheaper or less preferred meals



(d) Depend on reducing meal portion sizes



(f) Depend on reducing number of meals for of meals



Variables		Depend on De	epend on	Reduce expenses	Depend o	on
		family borrow [†] savings [†]		in health, education child labor		
			or			
Control Mean		.604	.287	.598	.0211	
Effect		112***	0342	0176	0218***	
SE		(.0347)	(.0482)	(.0346)	(.0077)	
Ν		2653	1194	2659	2699	
Bandwidth		[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	
Variables	Sell	Sell HH	Work for	Migrate [†]	Accept risky or	
	belongings [†]	assets [†]	food [†]		forced labor [†]	
Control Mean	.168	.272	.508	.0483	.175	
Effect	0588**	.00209	0409	.0066	0356	
SE	(.0253)	(.0353)	(.0348)	(.0159)	(.0259)	
Ν	2677	2185	2697	2681	2693	
Bandwidth	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	
Variables			Days o	Reduced		
	cheaper	family/friends	reduced	less meals	less meals a	Coping
	meals [†]	donated meals [†]	meal size [†]	for adults [†]	day [†]	Strategies
						Index
						(standardized) [†]
Control Mean	4.89	1.41	3.47	3.18	2.62	1.86e-09
Effect	439***	476***	852***	-1.17**	721***	366***
SE	(.153)	(.115)	(.187)	(.319)	(.184)	(.0651)
Ν	2699	2699	2699	953	2699	2699
Bandwidth	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]
*	**0 05 ***	t = 10.01				

Table 4: Final outcomes: Survival strategies

* *p* <0.10, ** *p* <0.05, *** *p* <0.01

Notes: The specification used for the models in this table includes a linear relationship between the dependent and independent variables, covariates, and the standardized distance to the nearest assignment frontier as a running variable to capture the pooled effect. Control covariates (at baseline) included: sex, age in years, whether the head of the household is the one who applied, nationality, how much time they've been in Colombia, the proportion of women in the household, Food Consumption Index, household expenses per capita, household income per capita, and average education level in the household. The RD robust command was used to make the estimations. *†*: These models include the baseline value of the outcome variable as an additional control variable.

Regarding survival strategies households used to gather monetary resources to acquire food when lacking the necessary resources, we observe that the program had a direct impact on reducing the probability of dependence on family borrowing (11.2 percentage points), child labor (2.18 percentage points), and selling their belongings (5.88 percentage points). Overall, these results are a clear indication that the ADN Dignidad program leads to increased food security. These effects may be associated with higher and more stable income sources, as well as increased knowledge and skills from information on food security, social services, and financial services provided by the program.

Figure 15: Graphical representation of RDD: Impact on final outcomes –Emotional well-being, violence, and discrimination

(a) Scale of satisfaction with own life



(c) Any member of the household was a of violence or insecurity

(b) Scale of satisfaction with own life relative to others



(d) Any member of the household felt victim discriminated



Notes: The graphs show unconditional means in bins that calculate the average value of the outcome variable in intervals with the same number of observations each. The solid blue line represents the predicted lines from local polynomials estimated using raw data on each side of the discontinuity. The outer gray dashed lines mark 95 percent confidence intervals.

Variables	Level of Level of		Household member was	Felt discriminated
	satisfaction	satisfaction own life	victim of violence or	during last month
	with own life	relative to others	insecurity last month (=1) [†]	(=1) [†]
Control Mean	7.01	7.13	.131	.16
Effect	.511***	.534***	0461**	033
SE	(.148)	(.156)	(.0223)	(.0248)
Ν	2699	2699	2699	2699
Bandwidth	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]	[-4.21–1.75]
* n <0 10 ** n <0	0 CE *** 0 O	4		

* *p* <0.10, ** *p* <0.05, *** *p* <0.01

Notes: The specification used for the models in this table includes a linear relationship between the dependent and independent variables, covariates, and the standardized distance to the nearest assignment frontier as a running variable to capture the pooled effect. Control covariates (at baseline) included: sex, age in years, whether the head of the household is the one who applied, nationality, how much time they've been in Colombia, the proportion of women in the household, Food Consumption Index, household expenses per capita, household income per capita, and average education level in the household. The RDrobust command was used to make the estimations.

†: These models include the baseline value of the outcome variable as an additional control variable

Next, we analyze the effects of ADN Dignidad on participants' living conditions, education, and health. Even though the evidence does not support the hypothesis that the ADN Dignidad program generated a direct impact on most of these variables, we found that there is a decrease of 4.78 percentage points in the probability of using medical services for children's health needs, and a decrease of -2.12 percentage points for chronic diseases.

Finally, we look at the program's impact on subjective well-being, including participants' vulnerability to violence, exploitation, or insecurity and their level of life satisfaction (both individually and in relation to others). ADN Dignidad decreased the probability that any household member was a victim of violence or insecurity during the month prior to the survey by 4.61 percentage points. Participants also reported lower incidence of discrimination compared to households in the control group (3.18 percentage points in the probability of feeling discriminated for some undisclosed reason). We find that ADN Dignidad program created the necessary conditions to increase the overall subjective perception of life satisfaction of participants. On a scale of 1 to 10, participants report a higher level of subjective satisfaction with their own life compared to the control group—0.511 points and 0.534 points when asked in relation to others. The increase in life satisfaction likely captures the aggregate improvements in economic well-being of participants discussed above, but is also consistent with an improved perception of security and reduced discrimination.

5.4 Heterogeneous effects: Gender disaggregated analysis

In this section we present the results of a heterogeneity analysis restricting the analysis sample to female applicants. Complete results are presented in the annex.

5.4.1 Impact on intermediate outcomes

The presentation of gender disaggregated results again follows the theory of change. Results in table 13 in the annexes show a significant impact of the program on female applicants' per capita household income and income instability. It is worth pointing out that although significant, these effects were smaller than those seen in the entire sample. The average impact on per capita household income was 25,282 Colombian pesos, compared to the 46,594 pesos impact for the entire sample.

In terms of savings and debt, we can see in Table 14, that there is a significant and positive impact on savings and a notable reduction of debt. These average impacts are larger in both these aspects for female applicants than the entire sample, meaning that the program could have been more influential in improving financial practices or promoting savings among women. The proportion of female applicants with savings increased by 6 percentage points while the proportion of female applicants with debt decreased by 8 percentage points, an impact of about one-third compared to the control group.

In terms of employment, we see in Table 15 that there is no significant impact on employment for this sub-sample with an increase of only 1.86 in the number of working hours compared to an impact size of 3.69 in the entire sample.

5.4.2 Impact on primary outcomes

In terms of final outcomes, we see in Table 16 that there is a significant impact in the area of survival strategies. This includes a reduction in the dependence on borrowing from family members, a reduced dependence on child labor, and a decreased need to sell belongings in
order to eat. These impacts are all similar to the ones we saw for the entire sample in terms of magnitude and statistical significance, indicating that the program could have worked in a similar magnitude of effectiveness for both male and female applicants. When it comes to strategies for coping with food scarcity, we again see significant improvements in all strategies. All these effects are very similar to the ones seen in the entire sample.

In Table 17, we see a significant effect in self-reported well-being on a scale of 1 to 10, with a 0.481 increase in life satisfaction and a 0.589 increase in life satisfaction compared to others. These effects are similar to those seen in the entire sample, although both of these indicators are lower in the female control group compared to the control group of the entire sample. In terms of experiencing violence and discrimination, we see a significant reduction in the probability of experiencing violence during the last month, but no impact on perceived discrimination. Finally, in Table 18, we see no effect in housing characteristics or health, which is in line with the results for the entire sample.

6. Conclusion

This report presents the results of impact evaluation of humanitarian assistance from the ADN Dignidad program to forcibly displaced Venezuelan and Colombian returning migrants. The program provides participants MPCA equivalent to approximately \$100 USD per month for a period of 6 months, as well as targeted messaging aimed at maximizing the nutritional impact of the cash assistance. To identify causal effects of the program on participants' well-being, we used exogenous programmatic eligibility criteria to implement an RDD. Robustness checks confirm that assumptions about the sharp discontinuity are satisfied, lending credibility to the impact analysis. We analyzed the impacts of ADN Dignidad on intermediate and primary outcomes collected on an endline survey of 3,190 applicants approximately 1 to 3 months after concluding the program. Following the program's theory of change, outcome categories of interest included economic security, food security coping strategies, use of financial and human capital-diminishing coping strategies, and psychosocial and quality of life indicators.

Results show that ADN Dignidad conferred protective effects for program recipients, and these effects are sustained beyond the immediate period when MPCA payments were received. We show that compliance with the program was close to 100 percent and that in the absence of ADN Dignidad, a large majority of migrants would not have been able to access other sources of cash assistance. Thanks to the program, participants (1) had higher expenditures, (2) were more likely to have savings and integrate debt repayment within their savings strategies, and (3) are more likely to possess informal savings products than if the program were absent. Program participants are more likely to invest in existing businesses and expand the number of working hours. On food survival strategies, program participants were less likely to rely on their social safety nets and invoke coping strategies such as reducing meal sizes, the number of meals, or engaging in the reallocation of adult meals to children. We found similar protective benefits on other outcomes: program recipients were less likely to invoke financial and human capital divestment coping strategies. For example, participants were less likely to depend on their families for borrowing and use child labor to supplement household income or sell assets. Finally, participants reported improved quality of life, such as higher life satisfaction and less likelihood of vulnerability to violence, insecurity, and discrimination. We also observed significant impacts for a stratified sample of female applicants that were largely consistent with results on the full sample. One notable

difference found in the stratified analysis is that female applicants experienced a higher likelihood of owning a business, suggesting that MPCA may play an important role in relaxing liquidity, risk-taking, or other constraints women face to engage in productive income-generating activities.

To assess the return on investment of the MPCA, we conducted a simple comparison of the potential economic benefits the program generated relative to program costs. To monetize benefits, we use the program's effect on expanded number of working hours. Increased labor market participation is arguably a more reliable proxy for benefits likely to accrue over time in the longer term, because receipt of MPCA in the 1 to 3 months prior to data collection could still directly affect our estimated impacts on income or expenditures. The impact analysis showed that program participants experienced an increase of approximately 3.7 hours per week. With a reported mean hourly income of 7612.9 pesos for employed program participants, this translates into 1,463,595 pesos per year or roughly \$305 USD in additional yearly labor income. Assuming that the effect on working hours and wages is stable over time and using annual discount rates in the range of 3 to 9 percent, the net present value of benefits surpasses the \$600 USD in MPCA benefits within 3 years. In the most conservative scenario, using a 9-percent discount rate, the net present value of benefits at the 3-year mark is estimated at \$771 USD, a return on investment of 28.6 percent. In the least conservative scenario of a 3-percent discount rate, this return increases to 43.7 percent. In all scenarios, the estimated return on investment is equal or greater to 100 percent by year 5 and surpasses 200 percent within 9 years. While a comprehensive economic analysis that captures the full array of benefits identified in the impact evaluation as well as indirect costs assumed in the program's administration is outside the scope of this report, these initial findings suggest that MPCA from ADN Dignidad has the potential yield positive returns after just 3 years of sustained impacts.

The findings emerging in this report show that the benefits ADN Dignidad provided to the population of vulnerable mixed migrants in Colombia produce both economically and statistically significant improvements along various dimensions of quality of life. These findings are largely consistent with the nascent literature examining cash transfers as humanitarian assistance tools for refugees and forcibly displaced populations, and fill an important knowledge gap given the scope and depth of the current Venezuelan migrant crisis. Humanitarian assistance in the form of MPCA is shown to be an important social protection intervention in the short term, providing migrant families the flexibility to identify the optimal risk mitigation and investment strategies to meet their immediate needs. While this study is limited to short-term impacts, findings relating to increased savings, expanded employment, and productive investments in female-owned businesses hold promise for sustained benefits in the longer run. Questions of longer term protective benefits, integration into receiving communities, as well as complementarities of MPCA with other programmatic approaches, such as financial literacy or savings groups, are important topics for future research.

Online Appendix

Online Appendix A: Baseline covariates and dependent variables: Balance analysis

https://3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2023-04/ADN-Dignidad-Program-Online-Appendix-A.pdf

Online Appendix B: Results for women

https://3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2023-04/ADN-Dignidad-Program-Online-Appendix-B.pdf

Online Appendix C: Result tables with all specifications

https://3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2023-04/ADN-Dignidad-Program-Online-Appendix-C.pdf

References

Aker, J. C. 2017. "Comparing Cash and Voucher Transfers in a Humanitarian Context: Evidence from the Democratic Republic of Congo." *The World Bank Economic Review*, *31* (1), 44–70.

Akresh, R., S. Bhalotra, M. Leone, and U.O. Osili. 2017. *First and Second Generation Impacts of the Biafran War.* (Tech. Rep.). National Bureau of Economic Research.

Akresh, R., L. Lucchetti, and H. Thirumurthy. 2012. "Wars and Child Health: Evidence from the Eritrean–Ethiopian Conflict." *Journal of Development Economics*, *99* (2), 330–340.

Asfaw, S. and B. Davis. 2018. "Can Cash Transfer Programmes Promote Household Resilience? Cross-Country Evidence from Sub-Saharan Africa." In *Climate Smart Agriculture,* pp. 227–250. Springer, Cham.

Attanasio, O., E. Fitzsimons, A. Gomez, M.I. Gutierrez, C. Meghir, and A. Mesnard. 2010. "Children's Schooling and Work in the Presence of a Conditional Cash Transfer Program in Rural Colombia." *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, *58* (2), 181–210.

Attanasio, O. and A. Mesnard. 2006. "The Impact of a Conditional Cash Transfer Programme on Consumption in Colombia." *Fiscal Studies*, 27 (4), 421–442.

Aygün, A. H., M.G. Kirdar, M. Koyuncu, and Q. Stoeffler. 2021. "Keeping Refugee Children in School and Out of Work: Evidence from the World's Largest Humanitarian Cash Transfer Program." (Tech. Rep.). *IZA Discussion Papers*.

Baez, J. E. and A. Camacho. 2011. "Assessing the Long-Term Effects of Conditional Cash Transfers on Human Capital: Evidence from Colombia." *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper* (5681).

Baird, S., F.H. Ferreira, B. Özler, and M. Woolcock. 2014. "Conditional, Unconditional and Everything in Between: A Systematic Review of the Effects of Cash Transfer Programmes on Schooling Outcomes." *Journal of Development Effectiveness, 6 (1), 1–43.*

Bundervoet, T., P. Verwimp, and R. Akresh. 2009. "Health and Civil War in Rural Burundi." *Journal of Human Resources*, *44* (2), 536–563.

Bundervoet, T., P. Verwimp et al. 2005. "Civil War and Economic Sanctions: Analysis of Anthropometric Outcomes in Burundi." *(Tech. Rep.).* Households in Conflict Network.

Cattaneo, M. D., N. Idrobo, and R. Titiunik. 2018. "A Practical Introduction to Regression Discontinuity Designs: Volume II." Cambridge University Press.

——. 2020. "A Practical Introduction to Regression Discontinuity Designs: Foundations." Cambridge University Press. DOI: 10.1017/9781108684606.

Cattaneo, M. D., R. Titiunik, and G. Vazquez-Bare. 2019. "Power Calculations for Regression-Discontinuity Designs." *The Stata Journal, 19* (1), 210–245.

——. 2020. "Analysis of Regression-Discontinuity Designs with Multiple Cutoffs or Multiple Scores." *The Stata Journal*, *20* (4), 866-891. DOI: 10.1177/1536867X20976320. Accessible

at: https://doi.org/10.1177/1536867X20976320.

Corral, P., A. Irwin, N. Krishnan, and D.G. Mahler. 2020. "Fragility and Conflict: On the Front Lines of the Fight against Poverty." *World Bank Publications*.

Daidone, S., B. Davis, S. Handa, and P. Winters. 2019. "The Household and Individual-Level Productive Impacts of Cash Transfer Programs in Sub-Saharan Africa." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, *101* (5), 1401–1431.

Doocy, S. and H. Tappis. 2017. "Cash-Based Approaches in Humanitarian Emergencies: A Systematic Review." *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *13* (1), 1–200.

Ecker, O., J.-F. Maystadt, and Z. Guo. 2019. "Can Unconditional Cash Transfers Mitigate the Impact of Civil Conflict on Acute Child Malnutrition in Yemen?: Evidence from the National Social Protection Monitoring Survey." (Vol. 17). *Intl Food Policy Res Inst.*

Ekhator-Mobayode, U. E. and A. Abebe Asfaw. 2019. "The Child Health Effects of Terrorism: Evidence from the Boko Haram Insurgency in Nigeria." *Applied Economics*, *51* (6), 624–638.

Fisher, E., R. Attah, V. Barca, C. O'Brien, S. Brook, S., J. Holland, P. Pozarny et al. 2017. "The Livelihood Impacts of Cash Transfers in Sub-Saharan Africa: Beneficiary Perspectives from Six Countries." *World Development*, *99*, 299–319.

Gallego, J., B. Hoffmann, P. Ibarrarán, M.P. Medina, C. Pecha, O. Romero, D.A. Vera-Cossio et al. 2021. "Impactos del programa ingreso solidario frente a la crisis del COVID-19 en Colombia." *Banco Interamericano de Desarrollo*.

Hagen-Zanker, J., M. Ulrichs, and R. Holmes. 2018. "What Are the Effects of Cash Transfers for Refugees in the Context of Protracted Displacement? Findings from Jordan." *International Social Security Review*, *71* (2), 57–77.

Hanmer, L., E. Rubiano, J. Santamaria, and D.J. Arango. 2020. How Does Poverty Differ among Refugees? Taking a Gender Lens to the Data on Syrian Refugees in Jordan." *Middle East Development Journal*, *12* (2), 208–242.

Hoddinott, J. and E. Skoufias. 2004. "The Impact of *Progresa* on Food Consumption." *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, *53* (1), 37–61.

Kabeer, N. and H. Waddington. 2015. "Economic Impacts of Conditional Cash Transfer Programmes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 7 (3), 290–303.

Klugman, J. 2022. "The Gender Dimensions of Forced Displacement: A Synthesis of New Research."

Lagarde, M., A. Haines, and N. Palmer. 2007. "Conditional Cash Transfers for Improving Uptake of Health Interventions in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review." *Jama*, *298* (16), 1900–1910.

Londoño-Vélez, J. and P. Querubin. 2022. "The Impact of Emergency Cash Assistance in a Pandemic: Experimental Evidence from Colombia." *Review of Economics and Statistics*, *104*

(1), 157–165.

Malpass, David. 2022. *Remarks by World Bank Group President David Malpass at Fragility Forum 2022: Development and Peace in Uncertain Times.* Accessible at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/speech/2022/ 03/07/remarks-by-world-bank-group-president-david-malpass-at-fragility-forum-2022-development-and-peace-in-uncertain-times.

Minoiu, C. and O.N. Shemyakina. 2014. "Armed Conflict, Household Victimization, and Child Health in Côte d'Ivoire." *Journal of Development Economics*, *108*, 237–255.

Moussa, W., N. Salti, A. Irani, R. Al Mokdad, Z. Jamaluddine, J. Chaaban, and H. Ghattas. (2022. "The Impact of Cash Transfers on Syrian Refugee Children in Lebanon." *World Development*, *150*, 105711.

Özler, B., Ç. Çelik, S. Cunningham, P.F. Cuevas, and L. Parisotto. 2021. "Children on the Move: Progressive Redistribution of Humanitarian Cash Transfers among Refugees." *Journal of Development Economics*, *153*, 102733.

Salti, N., J. Chaaban, W. Moussa, A. Irani, R. Al Mokdad, Z. Jamaluddine, and H. Ghattas. 2022. "The Impact of Cash Transfers on Syrian Refugees in Lebanon: Evidence from a Multidimensional Regression Discontinuity Design." *Journal of Development Economics*, *155*, 102803.

Schultz, T. P. 2004. "School Subsidies for the Poor: Evaluating the Mexican *Progresa* Poverty Program." *Journal of Development Economics*, 74 (1), 199–250.

UNHCR. 2022a. *Global trends: Forced displacement in 2021*. Accessible at: https://www.unhcr.org/publications/ brochures/62a9d1494/global-trends-report-2021.html.

. 2022b. More than 100 million people are forcibly displaced. Accessible at: https://www.unhcr.org/refugee-statistics/insights/explainers/100-million-forcibly-displaced.html.

van Daalen, K. R., S. Dada, R. James, H.C. Ashworth, P. Khorsand, J. Lim, J. et al. 2022. "Impact of Conditional and Unconditional Cash Transfers on Health Outcomes and Use of Health Services in Humanitarian Settings: A Mixed-Methods Systematic Review." *BMJ global health*, *7* (1), e007902.

World Food Programme. 2019. *Vulnerability Analysis and Mapping (VAM) Technical Guidance*. Technical Guidance No. WFP211058. World Food Programme. Accessible at: https://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/manual guide proced/wfp211058.pdf.

Other publications in the 3ie Impact Evaluation Report Series

The following reports are available from http://3ieimpact.org/evidencehub/publications/impact-evaluations

Community advocacy forums and public service delivery in Uganda: Impact and the role of information, deliberation and administrative placement, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 136. Campenhout, BV, Kabunga, N, Mogues, T and Miehe, C, 2021.

Evaluation of secondary school teacher training under the School Sector Development Programme in Nepal, Impact Evaluation Report 135. Schaffner, J, Glewwe, P, and Sharma, U, 2021.

Impacts of supportive feedback and nonmonetary incentives on child immunisation in Ethiopia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 134. Demilew, A, Girma, M, McElwee, E, Datta, S, Barofsky, J and Disasa, T, 2021.

Impacts of electronic case management systems on court congestion in the Philippines, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 133. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

Impacts of judicial reform in small claims procedures on court congestion in the Philippines, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 132. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

Impacts of judicial reform in criminal case procedures on court congestion in the Philippines, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 131. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

Impacts of the Stimulate, Appreciate, Learn and Transfer community engagement approach to increase immunization coverage in Assam, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 130. Pramanik, S, Ghosh, A, Goswami, A, Das, T, Albert, S, Forth, P and Nanda, R, 2020.

Impacts of a novel mHealth platform to track maternal and child health in Udaipur, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 129. Nagar, R, Ambiya, MS, Singh, P, Abdullah, H, Banshiwal, V, Stone, L, Manjanatha, D, Venkat, P, Purawat, D, Supatkar, V, Singh, A, Dalal, S and Shahnawaz, M, 2020.

Impact evaluation of the National Rural Livelihoods Project, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 128. Kochar, A, Barooah, B, Jain, C, Singh, G, Closepet, N, Narayanan, R, Sarkar, R and Shah, R, 2020.

Impacts of engaging communities through traditional and religious leaders on vaccination coverage in Cross River State, Nigeria, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 127. Oyo-Ita, A, Bosch-Capblanch, X, Ross, A, Hanlon, P, Oku, A, Esu, E, Ameh, S, Oduwole, B, Arikpo, D and Meremikwu, M, 2020.

Evaluating the impact of interventions to improve full immunisation rates in Haryana, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 126. Banerjee, A, Chandrasekhar, A, Duflo, E, Dalpath, S, Floretta, J, Jackson, M, Kannan, H, Schrimpf, A and Shrestha, M, 2020.

Impacts of community-led video education to increase vaccination coverage in Uttar Pradesh, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 125. Gurley, N, Shearer, J, Srivastava, Y, Mahapatra, S and Desmond, M, 2020. *Impact of creative capacity building of local innovators and communities on income, welfare and attitudes in Uganda,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 124. Nkonya, E, Bashaasha, B, Kato, E, Bagamba, F and Danet, M, 2020.

Impact evaluation of the integrated soil fertility management dissemination programme in Burkina Faso, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 123. A, Frölich, M, Koussoubé, E, Maïga, E and Varejkova, T, 2020.

The effect of demonstration plots and the warehouse receipt system on integrated soil fertility management adoption, yield and income of smallholder farmers: a study from *Malawi's Anchor Farms*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 122. Michelson, H, Barrett, C, Palm, C, Maertens, A, Mhango, W and Chirwa, E, 2020.

Impacts of linking savings group to formal financial service providers and strengthening their internal group insurance mechanism in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 121. Frölich, M and Nguyen, PL, 2020.

Promoting latrine use in rural Karnataka using the risks, attitudes, norms, abilities and self-regulation (RANAS) approach, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 120. Friedrich, M, Balasundaram, T, Muralidharan, A, Raman, VR and Mosler, H-J, 2020.

Impacts of low-cost interventions to improve latrine use and safe disposal of child faeces in *rural Odisha, India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 119. Caruso, BA, Sclar, GD, Routray, P, Nagel C, Majorin, F, Sola, S, Koehne, W, DeShay, R, Udaipuria, S, Williams, R and Clasen, T, 2020.

Improving households' attitudes and behaviours to increase toilet use (HABIT) in Bihar, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 118. Viswanathan, S, Saith, R, Chakraborty, A, Purty, N, Malhotra, N, Singh, P, Mitra, P, Padmanabhan, V, Datta, S, Harris, J, Gidwani, S, Williams, R, Florence, E and Daniel, S, 2020.

Rebuilding the social compact: urban service delivery and property taxes in Pakistan, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 117. Khwaja, AI, Haq, O, Khan, AQ, Olken, B and Shaukat, M, 2020.

Rural institutional innovation: can village courts in Bangladesh accelerate access to justice and improve socio-economic outcomes? 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 116. Mattsson, M and Mobarak, AM, 2020.

Using big data to evaluate the impacts of transportation infrastructure investment: the case of subway systems in Beijing, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 115. Li, S and Liu, Y, 2020.

Community toilet use in Indian slums: willingness-to-pay and the role of informational and supply side constraints, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 113. Armand, A, Augsburg, B, Bancalari A and Trivedi B, 2020.

Impacts, maintenance and sustainability of irrigation in Rwanda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 112. Byiringo, E, Jones M, Kondylis F, Loeser J, Magruder, J and Ndahimana, C, 2020.

Continuous Emissions Monitoring Systems (CEMS) in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 111. Greenstone, M, Pande, R, Ryan, N and Sudarshan A, 2020.

Evaluating the impacts of the Dar es Salaam Bus Rapid Transit System, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 110. Morten, M, Bryan, G, Siddiqi, B, Balboni, C, 2020.

Access to safe drinking water: experimental evidence from new water sources in *Bangladesh*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 109. Cocciolo, S, Ghisolfi, S, Habib, A, Rashid, SMA and Tompsett, A, 2020.

Impact of alternate wetting and drying on farm incomes and water savings in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 108. Chakravorty, U, Dar, MH, Emerick, K, 2020.

The effects of vouchers for essential household items on child health, mental health, resilience and social cohesion among internally displaced persons in the Democratic *Republic of Congo*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 107. Quattrochi, J, Bisimwa, G, Thompson, T, van der Windt, P and Voors, M, 2020.

Measuring impacts of conservation interventions on human well-being and the environment in Northern Cambodia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 106. Clements, T, Neang, M, Milner-Gulland, EJ and Travers, H, 2020.

The 5 Star Toilet Campaign: improving toilet use in rural Gujarat, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 105. Chauhan, K, Schmidt, WP, Aunger, R, Gopalan, B, Saxena, D, Yashobant, S, Patwardhan, V, Bhavsar, P, Mavalankar, D and Curtis, V, 2020.

How education about maternal health risk can change the gender gap in the demand for family planning in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 104. Ashraf, N, Field, E, Voena, A and Ziparo, R, 2019.

In search of the holy grail: can unconditional cash transfers graduate households out of poverty in Zambia?, Impact Evaluation Report 103. Handa, S, Tembo, G, Natali, L, Angeles, G and Spektor, G, 2019.

Increasing HIV self-testing and linkage to care for partners of women in antenatal care in *Uganda*, Impact Evaluation Report 102. Wanyenze, R, Buregyeya, E, Matovu, J, Kisa, R, Kagaayi, J, Vrana-Diaz, C, Malek, A, Musoke, W, Chemusto, H, Mukama, S and Korte, J, 2019.

Improving the quality of care for children with acute malnutrition in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 101. Marzia, L, Wanzira, H, Lochoro, P and Putoto, G, 2019.

Impacts of increasing community resilience through humanitarian aid in Pakistan, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 100. Avdeenko, A and Frölich, M, 2019.

Impacts of community monitoring of socio-environmental liabilities in the Ecuadorian and Peruvian Amazon, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 99. Pellegrini, L, 2019.

Increasing HIV testing demand among Kenyan truck drivers and female sex workers, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 98. Kelvin, E, George, G, Mwai, E, Kinyanjui, S, Inoti, S, Chetty, T, Strauss, M, Romo, M, Oruko, F, Odhiambo J, Nyaga, E, Mantell, J and Govender, K, 2019. *Impacts of community stakeholder engagement interventions in Ugandan oil extractives,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 97. Parker, R, Coleman, E, Manyindo, J, Schultz, B and Mukuru, E, 2019.

The impacts of formal registration of businesses in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 96. Campos, F, Goldstein, M and McKenzie, D, 2019.

Unpacking the determinants of entrepreneurship development and economic empowerment for women in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 95. McKenzie, D, Puerto, S and Odhiambo, F, 2019.

Impacts of key provisions in Ghana's Petroleum Revenue Management Act, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 94. Edjekumhene, I, Voors, M, Lujala, P, Brunnschweiler, C, Owusu, CK and Nyamekye, A, 2019.

Using information to break the political resource curse in natural gas management in *Mozambique*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 93. Armand, A, Costa, AI, Coutts, A, Vicente, P and Vilela, I, 2019.

Harnessing transparency initiatives to improve India's environmental clearance process for the mineral mining sector, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 92. Pande, R and Sudarshan, A, 2019.

Impacts of removing user fees for maternal health services on universal health coverage in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 91. Abuya, T, Dennis, M, Matanda, D, Obare, F and Bellows, B, 2018.

Impact of voice reminders to reinforce harvest aggregation services training for farmers in Mali, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 90. Osei, RD, Dzanku, FM, Osei-Akoto, I, Asante, F, Hodey, LS, Adu, PN, Adu-Ababio, K and Coulibaly, M, 2018.

Impacts of Breakthrough's school-based gender attitude change programme in Haryana, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 89. Jayachandran, S, Jain, T and Dhar, D, 2018.

Hotspot interventions at scale: the effects of policing and city services on crime in Bogotá, *Colombia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 88. Blattman, C, Green, D, Ortega, D and Tobón, S, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the Philippine Special Program for Employment of Students, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 87. Beam, E, Linden, L, Quimbo, S and Richmond, H, 2018.

Community-based distribution of oral HIV self-testing kits: experimental evidence from Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 86. Hensen, B, Ayles, H, Mulubwa, C, Floyd, S, Schaap, A, Chiti, B, Phiri, M, Mwenge, L, Simwinga, M, Fidler S, Hayes, R, Bond, V and Mwinga, A, 2018.

Evaluating the economic impacts of rural banking: experimental evidence from southern India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 85. Field, E and Pande, R, 2018.

Direct provision versus facility collection of HIV tests: impacts of self-testing among female sex workers in Uganda. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 84. Ortblad, K, Musoke, DK, Ngabirano, T, Oldenburg, C and Bärnighausen, T, 2018.

Increasing female sex worker HIV testing: effects of peer educators and HIV self-tests in *Zambia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 83. Chanda, MM, Ortblad, KF, Mwale, M, Chongo, S, Kanchele, C, Kamungoma, N, Fullem, A, Bärnighausen, T and Oldenburg, CE, 2018.

Community delivery of antiretroviral drugs: a non-inferiority matched-pair pragmatic clusterrandomized trial in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 82. Francis, JM, Geldsetzer, P, Asmus, G, Ulenga, N, Ambikapathi, R, Sando, D, Fawzi, W and Bärnighausen, T, 2018.

Nourishing the future: targeting infants and their caregivers to reduce undernutrition in rural China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 81. Cai, J, Luo, R, Li, H, Lien, J, Medina, A, Zhou, H and Zhang, L, 2018.

Impacts of the World Food Programme's interventions to treat malnutrition in Niger. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 80. Brück, T, Ferguson, NTN, Ouédraogo, J and Ziegelhöfer, Z, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the World Food Programme's moderate acute malnutrition treatment and prevention programmes in Sudan. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 79. Guevarra, E, Mandalazi, E, Balegamire, S, Albrektsen, K, Sadler, K, Abdelsalam, K, Urrea, G and Alawad, S, 2018.

Impact evaluation of WFP's programs targeting moderate acute malnutrition in humanitarian situations in Chad. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 78. Saboya, M, Rudiger, J, Frize, J, Ruegenberg, D, Rodríguez Seco, A and McMillon, C, 2018.

Improving midday meal delivery and encouraging micronutrient fortification among children in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 77. Shastry, GK, Berry, J, Mukherjee, P, Mehta, S and Ruebeck, H, 2018.

Evaluation of infant development centres: an early years intervention in Colombia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 76. Andrew, A, Attanasio, O, Bernal, R, Cordona, L, Krutikova, S, Heredia, DM, Medina, C, Peña, X, Rubio-Codina, M and Vera-Hernandez, M, 2018.

Can the wounds of war be healed? Experimental evidence on reconciliation in Sierra Leone. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 75. Cilliers, J, Dube, O and Siddiqi, B, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the Menabe and Melaky development programme in Madagascar, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 74. Ring, H, Morey, M, Kavanagh, E, Kamto, K, McCarthy, N, Brubaker, J and Rakotondrafara, C, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the Smallholder Dairy Commercialization Programme in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 73. Bonilla, J, McCarthy, N, Mugatha, S, Rai, N, Coombes, A and Brubaker, J, 2018.

Impact and adoption of risk-reducing drought-tolerant rice in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 72. Yamano, T, Dar, MH, Panda, A, Gupta, I, Malabayabas, ML and Kelly, E, 2018.

Poverty and empowerment impacts of the Bihar Rural Livelihoods Project in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 71. Hoffmann, V, Rao, V, Datta, U, Sanyal, P, Surendra, V and Majumdar, S 2018. How should Tanzania use its natural gas? Citizens' views from a nationwide Deliberative *Poll*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 70. Birdsall, N, Fishkin, J, Haqqi, F, Kinyondo, A, Moyo, M, Richmond, J and Sandefur, J, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the conditional cash transfer program for secondary school attendance in Macedonia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 69. Armand, A and Carneiro, P, 2018.

Age at marriage, women's education, and mother and child outcomes in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 68. Field, E, Glennerster, R, Nazneen, S, Pimkina, S, Sen, I and Buchmann, N, 2018.

Evaluating agricultural information dissemination in western Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 67. Fabregas, R, Kremer, M, Robinson, J and Schilbach, F, 2017.

General equilibrium impact assessment of the Productive Safety Net Program in Ethiopia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 66. Filipski, M, Taylor, JE, Abegaz, GA, Ferede, T, Taffesse, AS and Diao, X, 2017.

Impact of the Uddeepan programme on child health and nutrition in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 65. Kochar, A, Sharma, A and Sharma, A, 2017.

Evaluating oral HIV self-testing to increase HIV testing uptake among truck drivers in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 64. Kelvin, EA, Mwai, E, Romo, ML, George, G, Govender, K, Mantell, JE, Strauss, M, Nyaga, EN and Odhiambo, JO, 2017.

Integration of EPI and paediatric HIV services for improved ART initiation in Zimbabwe, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 63. Prescott, M, Boeke, C, Gotora, T, Mafaune, HW, Motsi, W, Graves, J, Mangwiro, A and McCarthy, E, 2017.

Increasing male partner HIV testing using self-test kits in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 62. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

Evaluating the impact of community health worker integration into prevention of mother-tochild transmission of HIV services in Tanzania, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 61. Nance, N, McCoy, S, Ngilangwa, D, Masanja, J, Njau, P and Noronha, R, 2017.

Using HIV self-testing to promote male partner and couples testing in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 60. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Obonyo, B, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2017.

Increasing male partner HIV self-testing at antenatal care clinics in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 59. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

Impact of free availability of public childcare on labour supply and child development in Brazil, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 58. Attanasio, O, Paes de Barros, R, Carneiro, P, Evans, D, Lima, L, Olinto, P and Schady, N, 2017.

Estimating the effects of a low-cost early stimulation and parenting education programme in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 57. Cardenas, S, Evans, D and Holland, P, 2017.

The Better Obstetrics in Rural Nigeria study: an impact evaluation of the Nigerian Midwives Service Scheme, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 56. Okeke, E, Glick, P, Abubakar, IS, Chari, AV, Pitchforth, E, Exley, J, Bashir, U, Setodji, C, Gu, K and Onwujekwe, O, 2017. *The Productive Safety Net Programme in Ethiopia: impacts on children's schooling, labour and nutritional status*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 55. Berhane, G, Hoddinott, J, Kumar, N and Margolies, A, 2016.

The impact of youth skills training on the financial behaviour, employability and educational choice in Morocco, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 54. Bausch, J, Dyer, P, Gardiner, D, Kluve, J and Mizrokhi, E, 2016.

Using advertisements to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in South Africa, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 53. Frade, S, Friedman, W, Rech, D and Wilson, N, 2016.

The use of peer referral incentives to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 52. Zanolini, A, Bolton, C, Lyabola, LL, Phiri, G, Samona, A, Kaonga, A and Harsha Thirumurthy, H, 2016.

Using smartphone raffles to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Tanzania, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 51. Mahler, H and Bazant, E, 2016.

Voluntary medical male circumcision uptake through soccer in Zimbabwe, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 50. DeCelles, J, Kaufman, Z, Bhauti, K, Hershow, R, Weiss, H, Chaibva, C, Moyo, N, Braunschweig, E, Mantula, F, Hatzold, K and Ross, D, 2016.

Measuring the impact of SMS-based interventions on uptake of voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 49. Leiby, K, Connor, A, Tsague, L, Sapele, C, Koanga, A, Kakaire, J and Wang, P, 2016.

Assessing the impact of delivering messages through intimate partners to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 48. Semeere, AS, Bbaale, DS, Castelnuovo, B, Kiragga, A, Kigozi, J, Muganzi, A, Kambugu, A and Coutinho, AG, 2016.

Optimising the use of economic interventions to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 47. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Rao, SO, Murray, K, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2016.

The impact of earned and windfall cash transfers on livelihoods and conservation in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 46. Bulte, E, Conteh, B, Kontoleon, A, List, J, Mokuwa, E, Richards, P, Turley, T and Voors, M, 2016.

Property tax experiment in Pakistan: Incentivising tax collection and improving performance, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 45. Khan, A, Khwaja, A and Olken, B, 2016.

Impact of mobile message reminders on tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Pakistan, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 44. Mohammed, S, Glennerster, R and Khan, A, 2016.

Making networks work for policy: Evidence from agricultural technology adoption in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 43. Beaman, L, BenYishay, A, Fatch, P, Magruder, J and Mobarak, AM, 2016.

Estimating the impact and cost-effectiveness of expanding access to secondary education in Ghana, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 42. Dupas, P, Duflo, E and Kremer, M, 2016.

*Evaluating the effectiveness of computers as tutors in China, 3*ie Impact Evaluation Report 41. Mo, D, Bai, Y, Boswell, M and Rozelle, S, 2016.

Micro entrepreneurship support programme in Chile, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 40. Martínez, CA, Puentes, EE and Ruiz-Tagle, JV, 2016.

Thirty-five years later: evaluating the impacts of a child health and family planning programme in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 39. Barham, T, Kuhn, R, Menken, J and Razzaque, A, 2016.

Effectiveness of a rural sanitation programme on diarrhoea, soil-transmitted helminth infection and malnutrition in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 38. Clasen, T, Boisson, S, Routray, P, Torondel, B, Bell, M, Cumming, O, Ensink, J, Freeman, M and Jenkins, M, 2016.

Evaluating the impact of vocational education vouchers on out-of-school youth in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 37. Hicks, JH, Kremer, M, Mbiti, I and Miguel, E, 2016.

Removing barriers to higher education in Chile: evaluation of peer effects and scholarships for test preparation, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 36. Banerjee, A, Duflo E and Gallego, F, 2016.

Sustainability of impact: dimensions of decline and persistence in adopting a biofortified crop in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 35. McNiven, S, Gilligan, DO and Hotz, C 2016.

A triple win? The impact of Tanzania's Joint Forest Management programme on livelihoods, governance and forests, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 34. Persha, L and Meshack, C, 2016.

The effect of conditional transfers on intimate partner violence: evidence from Northern Ecuador, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 33. Hidrobo, M, Peterman, A and Heise, L, 2016.

The effect of transfers and preschool on children's cognitive development in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 32. Gillian, DO and Roy, S, 2016.

Can egovernance reduce capture of public programmes? Experimental evidence from India's employment guarantee, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 31. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Mathew, S and Pande, R, 2015.

Improving maternal and child health in India: evaluating demand and supply strategies, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 30. Mohanan, M, Miller, G, Forgia, GL, Shekhar, S and Singh, K, 2016.

Smallholder access to weather securities in India: demand and impact on production decisions, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 28. Ceballos, F, Manuel, I, Robles, M and Butler, A, 2015.

What happens once the intervention ends? The medium-term impacts of a cash transfer programme in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 27. Baird, S, Chirwa, E, McIntosh, C and Özler, B, 2015.

Validation of hearing screening procedures in Ecuadorian schools, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 26. Muñoz, K, White, K, Callow-Heusser, C and Ortiz, E, 2015.

Assessing the impact of farmer field schools on fertilizer use in China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 25. Burger, N, Fu, M, Gu, K, Jia, X, Kumar, KB and Mingliang, G, 2015.

The SASA! study: a cluster randomised trial to assess the impact of a violence and HIV prevention programme in Kampala, Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 24. Watts, C, Devries, K, Kiss, L, Abramsky, T, Kyegombe, N and Michau, L, 2014.

Enhancing food production and food security through improved inputs: an evaluation of *Tanzania's National Agricultural Input Voucher Scheme with a focus on gender impacts,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 23. Gine, X, Patel, S, Cuellar-Martinez, C, McCoy, S and Lauren, R, 2015.

A wide angle view of learning: evaluation of the CCE and LEP programmes in Haryana, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 22. Duflo, E, Berry, J, Mukerji, S and Shotland, M, 2015.

Shelter from the storm: upgrading housing infrastructure in Latin American slums, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 21. Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Cooper, R, Martinez, S, Ross, A and Undurraga, R, 2015.

Environmental and socioeconomic impacts of Mexico's payments for ecosystem services programme, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 20. Alix-Garcia, J, Aronson, G, Radeloff, V, Ramirez-Reyes, C, Shapiro, E, Sims, K and Yañez-Pagans, P, 2015.

A randomised evaluation of the effects of an agricultural insurance programme on rural households' behaviour: evidence from China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 19. Cai, J, de Janvry, A and Sadoulet, E, 2014.

Impact of malaria control and enhanced literacy instruction on educational outcomes among school children in Kenya: a multi-sectoral, prospective, randomised evaluation, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 18. Brooker, S and Halliday, K, 2015.

Assessing long-term impacts of conditional cash transfers on children and young adults in *rural Nicaragua*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 17. Barham, T, Macours, K, Maluccio, JA, Regalia, F, Aguilera, V and Moncada, ME, 2014.

The impact of mother literacy and participation programmes on child learning: evidence from a randomised evaluation in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 16. Banerji, R, Berry, J and Shortland, M, 2014.

A youth wage subsidy experiment for South Africa, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 15. Levinsohn, J, Rankin, N, Roberts, G and Schöer, V, 2014.

Providing collateral and improving product market access for smallholder farmers: a randomised evaluation of inventory credit in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 14. Casaburi, L, Glennerster, R, Suri, T and Kamara, S, 2014.

Scaling up male circumcision service provision: results from a randomised evaluation in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 13. Thornton, R, Chinkhumba, J, Godlonton, S and Pierotti, R, 2014.

Targeting the poor: evidence from a field experiment in Indonesia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 12. Atlas, V, Banerjee, A, Hanna, R, Olken, B, Wai-poi, M and Purnamasari, R, 2014.

An impact evaluation of information disclosure on elected representatives' performance: evidence from rural and urban India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 11. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Pande, R, Walton, M and Mahapatra, B, 2014.

Truth-telling by third-party audits and the response of polluting firms: Experimental evidence from India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 10. Duflo, E, Greenstone, M, Pande, R and Ryan, N, 2013.

No margin, no mission? Evaluating the role of incentives in the distribution of public goods in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 9. Ashraf, N, Bandiera, O and Jack, K, 2013.

Paying for performance in China's battle against anaemia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 8. Zhang, L, Rozelle, S and Shi, Y, 2013.

Social and economic impacts of Tuungane: final report on the effects of a community-driven reconstruction programme in the Democratic Republic of Congo, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 7. Humphreys, M, Sanchez de la Sierra, R and van der Windt, P, 2013.

The impact of daycare on maternal labour supply and child development in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 6. Angeles, G, Gadsden, P, Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Herrera, A, Kariger, P and Seira, E, 2014.

Impact evaluation of the non-contributory social pension programme 70 y más in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 5. Rodríguez, A, Espinoza, B, Tamayo, K, Pereda, P, Góngora, V, Tagliaferro, G and Solís, M, 2014.

Does marginal cost pricing of electricity affect groundwater pumping behaviour of farmers? *Evidence from India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 4. Meenakshi, JV, Banerji, A, Mukherji, A and Gupta, A, 2013.

The GoBifo project evaluation report: Assessing the impacts of community-driven development in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 3. Casey, K, Glennerster, R and Miguel, E, 2013.

A rapid assessment randomised-controlled trial of improved cookstoves in rural Ghana, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 2. Burwen, J and Levine, DI, 2012.

The promise of preschool in Africa: A randomised impact evaluation of early childhood development in rural Mozambique, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 1. Martinez, S, Naudeau, S and Pereira, V, 2012.

Colombia is home to more than 1.82 million Venezuelans, making it one of the largest displacement crises in the world. Sixty percent of them have irregular access to public services and very few coping strategies to support their integration. Understanding how to support these displaced populations is imperative, and to this effect, cash transfers are well established as an effective development tool. However, little is known about their effectiveness in aiding the displaced population. This study contributes to filling this gap, answering critical questions about the effectiveness of unconditional cash transfers for improving the lives of displaced individuals and their households.

Impact Evaluation Series

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation 215-216, Rectangle One D-4, Saket District Centre New Delhi – 110017 India 3ie@3ieimpact.org

Tel: +91 11 4989 4444

